FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/10/2023 4:01 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101794-4

Supreme Court No.

Court of Appeal No. 83065-1-I

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### PETROGAS PACIFIC LLC and PETROGAS WEST LLC,

#### Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

REBECCA XCZAR, Whatcom County Assessor,

Respondent.

#### **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Michelle DeLappe, WSBA #42184 Norman J. Bruns, WSBA #16234 Fox Rothschild LLP 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4400 Seattle, Washington 98154-1065 (206) 389-1668 seasalt@foxrothschild.com Attorneys for Petitioners

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petrogas Pacific LLC and Petrogas West LLC ("Petrogas" or "taxpayers") are affiliated companies that own a wharf and an onshore liquefied petroleum gas ("LPG") terminal in Whatcom County. The taxpayers seek review of a Court of Appeals decision affirming a property tax decision by the State Board of Tax Appeals ("Board") under the Administrative Procedure Act (RCW Chapter 34.05).

#### **II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

The taxpayers seek review of the published decision *Petrogas Pacific LLC v. Xczar*, No. 83065-1-I, \_\_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_\_, 520 P.3d 1077 (Nov. 28, 2022). Appendix A contains a copy of the decision and the Court's February 8, 2023 order denying reconsideration.

#### **III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

The case involves issues warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4):

1

- 1. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Board's conclusion of law rejecting the taxpayers' appraisal method, the cost approach to value, because it is limited to tangible property and thereby excludes intangible property from taxation. Both this Court and the legislature have favored the cost approach for valuing complex industrial property like that involved here. Should the Court grant review to resolve this conflict and guide statewide property tax assessment practices for the future?
- 2. The Court of Appeals affirmed the Board's conclusion that the taxpayers' assessments must, as a matter of law, include "taxable intangible values." Since 1908, this Court has recognized and upheld the legislature's decision to exclude all intangibles from property taxation. Should the Court grant review to re-

solve this conflict and answer Justice Stephens' recent questions<sup>1</sup> about the statute prohibiting ad valorem taxation of intangible property?

- 3. The Court of Appeals affirmed the extension of "taxable intangible values" to the taxpayers' interests in state-owned land on which the wharf is built. In 1977, this Court upheld the legislature's decision to tax such interests by the leasehold excise tax (RCW Chapter 82.29A) in lieu of the property tax. Should the Court grant review to resolve this conflict and restore the longstanding policy of taxing private interests in public land only once?
- 4. The Court of Appeals decision will require all 39

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Wash. Supreme Court oral argument, *Quinn v. State*, No. 100769-8 (Jan. 26, 2023), at 24 min., 18 sec.–25 min., 17 sec.; 55 min., 21 sec.–56 min., 25 sec., audio recording by TVW, Wash. State's Public Affairs Network, https://tvw.org/video/washington-state-supreme-court-2023011412/?eventID=2023011412 (Appendix G at 5, 7– 8).

county assessors to identify and quantify "taxable intangible values," including the value-enhancing effect of private interests in public land, and to do so without the benefit of the cost approach to value. Should the Court grant review to provide an authoritative determination on this issue of substantial public interest?

Because the decision conflicts with Supreme Court precedents and involves issues of great public interest, review is warranted.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves the property tax values of two parcels: the wharf improvements and the terminal improvements. The wharf is on leased public land. As such, the wharf owner pays leasehold excise tax in lieu of property tax. CP 1774, 1797. Only the privately owned improvements are subject to property tax. The terminal's land is taxed to a separate parcel not at issue here.

A. Petrogas purchased the terminal business in 2014 but did not receive all the business assets promised in the transaction.

In 2014, Petrogas agreed to pay \$242 million to Chevron USA Inc. ("Chevron") for the terminal business. CP 2826. Closing adjustments brought the total price to approximately \$247 million. As required for financial accounting purposes, the price paid for the business was allocated among the total assets of the acquired business. *Id.* PricewaterhouseCoopers ("PwC"), as independent auditor, allocated the price among the assets it identified as part of the acquisition:

- Land (separate tax parcel, not appealed)
- Terminal/tanks (tax parcel under appeal)
- Tangible personal property (separate tax account, not appealed)
- Throughput service contract (no tax parcel)
- Wharfage agreement & aquatic land lease license (no tax parcels)

PwC based the allocations to land and the terminal improvements ("terminal/tanks") on appraisals. CP 1593– 97, 4262. PwC allocated the remainder of the purchase price to assignable contracts: (1) a contract for throughput services to a third party and (2) a wharfage agreement with Alcoa Intalco Works ("Alcoa"), owner of a nearby aluminum smelter and its wharf. CP 2827, 4668–70. Though promised as part of the transaction, the two contracts did not materialize as Chevron could not obtain the necessary consents for assigning them. CP 2827–28.

B. To resolve the impasse, Petrogas purchased the wharf in 2016 for what the Court correctly termed "an overpayment."

Facing delay in its business expectations due to threatened litigation between Chevron and Alcoa over the wharfage consent (by the contract terms consent could not be unreasonably withheld), Petrogas negotiated with Alcoa to resolve its wharf access. CP 2827–29. Ultimately, in September 2016, Petrogas agreed to buy the wharf assets for "far more than they were worth"— \$122 million—due to Alcoa's "extraordinary commercial leverage." CP 1329–31, 1335. The Court of Appeals correctly stated that Petrogas overpaid for the wharf assets."<sup>2</sup>

For financial reporting purposes, PwC identified the following assets in the Petrogas–Alcoa transaction:

- Wharf improvements (tax parcel under appeal)
- Tangible personal property (separate tax account, not appealed)
- Aquatic land lease (no tax parcel)
- Intangible/goodwill (no tax parcel)

CP 2548. PwC accepted an appraised value for the wharf

of less than 10 percent of the total paid to Alcoa. CP

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Petrogas Pac., 520 P.3d at 1079.

2547–48. After allocating to the wharf improvements and the small amount of tangible personal property, PwC allocated the remaining amount paid to the lease of state-owned land and goodwill. CP 2548. The real estate excise tax affidavit associated with the deed for the wharf improvements reported the wharf's appraised value of \$10,205,208 for the taxable amount, with the rest of the \$122-million payment not subject to real estate excise tax. CP 342. The Department of Revenue audited the transaction and agreed. CP 341, 2548.

# C. Then began the property tax appeals at issue here.

Later in 2016, the Assessor drastically raised the values on both real property tax parcels involved in this case:

Assessment	Wharf	Terminal
Year	Assessed Value	Assessed Value
2015	\$8,462,024	\$17,508,394
2016	\$182,725,099	90,108,394
2017	\$98,244,952	\$190,710,788
2018	\$100,251,680	\$194,606,203

CP 534, 569, 1418, 1424, 2485. The taxpayers appealed. The bolded values above were subject to a consolidated hearing before the Board. CP 2485.

The taxpayers presented an independent appraisal report (CP 4236-4351) analyzing the business transactions summarized above and concluding that the PwCallocated value for the terminal improvements was consistent with the independent appraisal. CP 4261-63. The independent appraisal concluded a value for the wharf improvements that was somewhat higher than the amount allocated in the 2016 transaction. CP 4242, 4263. The independent appraisers agreed with PwC in characterizing as intangibles (1) the throughput contract, wharfage agreement, and aquatic land lease license in the 2014 transaction and (2) the aquatic land lease and goodwill in the 2016 transaction. CP 2316–18.

Based on the "premise that a prospective buyer would not pay any more for a property than what it would cost to construct or acquire a similar property with equal utility, less deductions for all forms of depreciation," the taxpayers' appraisal report developed a full cost approach to value. CP 4265. One of the first steps was to determine the replacement cost new, i.e., what equal improvements would cost brand new. Id. The wharf improvements' replacement cost **new** was approximately \$40 million—well below the appealed values. CP 4324, 4328, 4332. The terminal improvements' replacement cost **new** was less than \$210 million—similar to the appealed values. CP 4279, 4283.

Then, from the replacement cost new, the taxpayers' appraisers deducted physical depreciation (approximately 30 percent, supported by detailed analysis) to conclude the market value for the used improvements; no deductions were made for any form of obsolescence. CP 4278–79, 4282, 4292, 4296, 4300. This represented the maximum value based on the wharf and terminal operating together to export LPG products. CP 4260.

The taxpayers' appraisers considered other valuation methodologies (based on sales or income), but the uniqueness of this property at the time made other methodologies impossible. *See, e.g.*, CP 4269–72.

The parties agree the property is of a complex nature.<sup>3</sup> As of the valuation dates at issue (January 1,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Petrogas Pac., 520 P.3d at 1084.

2016–2018), this was the only LPG export facility on the West Coast of North America.<sup>4</sup>

The Board's Conclusions of Law 21–26 are at issue here. Conclusion 21 concluded the 2014 and 2016 transaction prices, including "taxable intangible values" (and excluding only the land and tangible personal property taxed separately) best reflected the market value of the terminal and wharf improvements (CP 2575):

- 21. The Board finds that the purchase price allocations prepared by PricewaterhouseCoopers in compliance with U.S. GAAP are the most persuasive evidence of value when the taxable intangible values are included.
  - a. For the Terminal, the values of the Terminal/tanks, BP Energy Throughput Contract, and Wharfage Agreement and Aquatic Lands Lease total \$232,480,541, in excess of the assessed values for either year.
  - b. For the Wharf, the values of the Wharf, Intangible property, and Aquatic Lands Lease total \$121,904,954, in excess of the assessed values for all three years. Thus, the Board reduces the 2016 Wharf valuation in alignment with 2017 and 2018 assessed values.

The values in Conclusion 21 include the following assets identified in PwC's price allocations:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> *Id.* at 1083.

<b>PwC Allocation of Price for Terminal Business</b>		
(CP 2547, 2575)		
Terminal/tanks \$	157,753,327	
Subtotal: Tangible Property	,	\$157,753,327
Throughput service contract	\$3,687,908	
Wharfage agreement &		
Aquatic land lease license	\$71,039,306	
Subtotal: "Taxable Intangil	ble Values"	\$74,727,214
BOARD'S TOTAL TAXABLE VA	ALUE	\$232,480,541

<b>PwC Allocation of Price Paid in Wharf Transaction</b>		
(CP 2548, 2575)		
Wharf improvement	s \$10,205,058	
Sı	ubtotal: Tangible Property	\$10,205,058
Aquatic land lease	\$11,699,896	
Intangible/goodwill	\$100,000,000	
Subtotal: "T	axable Intangible Values"	\$111,699,896
BOARD'S TOTAL	TAXABLE VALUE	\$121,904,954

The Board did not adopt the values it concluded as "the most persuasive," however. CP 2575. The Board's total taxable value for the wharf was less than its assessed value for 2016, so the Board reduced the 2016 value. CP 2485, 2575. But, without explanation, the Board reduced the wharf value to \$98 million to "align" it with the later assessed values. CP 2575. For 2017 and 2018,

the Board's total values exceeded the assessed values. *Id.* Under RCW 84.08.060, the Board cannot increase values above the original assessed values. So the Board affirmed the assessed values for 2017 and 2018. *Id.* In considering this, one should note that the former Assessor, who was responsible for setting those values, was the **only** witness that the Board did not find credible.<sup>5</sup> Based on Conclusion 21, the Board decided intangibles should be included. But, in its decision over 90 pages long, it did not specify what a "taxable intangible" is nor how to determine its value (such as in other cases where no purchase price allocation exists).

In Conclusion 22, the Board explains that it rejected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Board deemed all five of the taxpayers' witnesses credible. CP 2546, 2549, 2552, 2558, 2565. The Board also found the Assessor's outside consultant credible but made no finding that the former Assessor was credible. CP 2555.

the taxpayers' appraisal because its cost approach considered tangible property only. CP 2576. Conclusion 23 praises the taxpayers' wharf appraisal for its "credible" replacement cost **new** of approximately \$40 million; yet the Board deemed the **used** wharf improvements worth nearly \$122 million. Id. Though it vaguely endorsed the assessed values as "properly and legally performed" (Conclusions 24 and 25), the Board deemed the gross selling prices including the improvements and intangible property as "the most persuasive evidence of value" for the improvements alone (Conclusion 21). CP 2575-76. Lastly, Conclusion 26 claims the taxpayers' appraisal "exclude[d] attributes that are properly taxable." CP 2576. In the Board's words (CP 2576):

- 22. The Taxpayers' appraisal errs by considering only the cost approach of tangible property. It does not appropriately consider the subject sales nor any income approach valuation.
- The WSP replacement cost new for the Wharf with modern materials and construction is credible.
- 24. The Department of Revenue and the Assessor properly used unitary valuation methods to value the Terminal and Wharf.<sup>251</sup>
- 25. The Board concludes that, under the applicable statutes and rules, the Assessor's valuations of the subject properties were properly and legally performed.
- 26. The Board concludes that, under the applicable statutes and rules, the Taxpayers' contended values exclude attributes of the properties that are properly taxable.

On direct judicial review under RCW 34.05.518 and 34.05.570, the Court of Appeals issued a published opinion affirming the Board's decision.

#### V. ARGUMENT FOR GRANTING REVIEW

The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with at least nine prior Supreme Court decisions in three areas. First, the basis for rejecting the taxpayers' appraisal conflicts with at least six Supreme Court decisions and a statutory preference for the cost approach for complex property. Moreover, regardless of method used, the property tax value cannot include intangible property. The Board wrongly viewed as a flaw in the taxpayers' cost approach the fact that it valued tangible property only. Second, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with decisions this Court issued in 1908 and 1931 holding all intangibles exempt from property taxation under statutory language that remains in force today. Third, in extending "taxable intangible values" to the value of rights to use and occupy state-owned land, the decision conflicts with this Court's 1977 decision that the leasehold excise tax replaces the property tax for such rights. Review is also needed because the decision breaks dramatically from longstanding tax laws and assessment practices. This will affect public officials and taxpayers across all the state's 39 counties.

## A. The Board's basis for rejecting the taxpayer's cost approach conflicts with at least six Supreme Court decisions.

Regardless of appraisal method used, property tax values cannot include intangible property. The Court of Appeals, missing the legal error in Conclusion 22 (faulting the taxpayers' appraisal for valuing only tangible property), applied to this issue the wrong standard of review—substantial evidence rather than an error of law.<sup>6</sup> The Court of Appeals then misstated the evidence, all the while sidestepping the legal error.<sup>7</sup>

The decision conflicts with this Court's reading of the statutory valuation criteria applicable to complex property. This Court explained its reading of the statute in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Petrogas Pac., 520 P.3d at 1085.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> *Id.* at 1084–85. Contrary to what the decision asserts, the taxpayers' appraisal fully considered the sales of the subject properties, dedicating a full section of the appraisal report to analyze the transactions in detail and finding the purchase price allocations consistent with the appraisers' independent valuations. CP 4261–63.

two separate decisions in the 1980s *Folsom* case: *Folsom I* explained that RCW 84.40.030(3)(b) instructs assessors "to **rely most heavily** on the cost and income approaches in valuing properties of a 'complex nature,"<sup>8</sup> and *Folsom II* emphasized that "discretion is not unlimited" where "a cost-based valuation was dictated" by this statutory provision.<sup>9</sup> And yet, the Court of Appeals incorrectly affirmed the Board's misplaced reliance on gross selling prices for a business, including what the Court of Appeals recognized was "an overpayment" as to the Alcoa transaction.<sup>10</sup>

In so affirming, the decision conflicts with precedents properly applying this statutory mandate for valuing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Folsom v. Cty. of Spokane, 106 Wn.2d 760, 763, 725 P.2d 987 (1986) [Folsom I] (emphasis added) (interpreting the same statutory language as in the current statute, as shown in Laws of 1988, ch. 222, § 14).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Folsom v. Cty. of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 271, 759
P.2d 1196 (1988) [Folsom II].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Petrogas Pac., 520 P.3d at 1079.

complex property. At least four other Supreme Court property tax decisions over the course of many decades have agreed with cost approaches that were limited to tangible property used in various types of complex businesses: Weyerhaeuser Co. v. Easter (pulp mill),<sup>11</sup> Sahalee Country Club, Inc. v. Bd. of Tax Appeals (championship golf course),<sup>12</sup> Boise Cascade Corp. v. Pierce Cty. (paper mill),<sup>13</sup> and Ozette Ry. Co. v. Grays Harbor Cty. (logging railroad).<sup>14</sup> Two of these decisions upheld assessments that considered only the cost approach: one recognized "the superiority of the cost approach" as "particularly applicable where the property is being used at its highest and best use;<sup>15</sup> the other found "fully justified" the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 126 Wn.2d 370, 894 P.2d 1290 (1995).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> 108 Wn.2d 26, 735 P.2d 1320 (1987).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> 84 Wn.2d 667, 529 P.2d 9 (1974).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> 16 Wn.2d 459, 133 P.2d 983 (1943), overruled on other grounds by Xerox Corp. v. King Cty., 94 Wn.2d 284, 617
P.2d 412 (1980).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Sahalee, 108 Wn.2d at 36.

assessor's valuation based on total original construction costs less depreciation.<sup>16</sup> The other two decisions reduced assessments based on the cost approach: this Court held the cost approach most "accurate" for valuing a pulp mill;<sup>17</sup> and it affirmed a trial court's value reduction for a paper mill's large equipment based solely on the cost approach where the assessor, following Department of Revenue advice, had also based his assessed value only on the cost approach.<sup>18</sup>

In every one of these cases, the cost approach valued the tangible property only. Here, the only reason the Board rejected the taxpayers' cost approach was that it valued tangible property only. The Court of Appeals pointed to nothing that would render these 80 years of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> Ozette, 16 Wn.2d at 474.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Weyerhaeuser, 126 Wn.2d at 375, 376 n.2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Boise Cascade, 84 Wn.2d at 669, 672.

Supreme Court caselaw inapposite. All six decisions discussed above remain good law as applied to the Petrogas situation, and none can be reconciled with the Court of Appeals decision.

### B. The Court of Appeals decision is at odds with Supreme Court precedents recognizing a total exemption of intangibles.

For over 100 years, our state's property tax laws have taxed real property (land and fixtures) and chattels but exempted credits, or what, in modern parlance, we call *intangibles*. The Board's neologism of "taxable intangible values" conflicts with over a century of state law and sound policy. Since 1908 this Court and other authorities have consistently held that all intangibles are exempt from property tax. The Court of Appeals does not even mention this Court's prior decisions confirming this total exemption nor the statutory language on which those decisions were based. Instead, without any precedent, the Court of Appeals defends the Board's conclusion as though statutory language added in 1997 overruled this Court's longstanding recognition of a total exemption of intangibles. This is a surprising, unprecedented, and mistaken construction of the 1997 legislation.

Our state's property tax is limited to tangible property. This is the logical corollary of the statute's total exemption of all intangible property. The taxpayers' briefing in the Court of Appeals recounts the history of this state's exemption of intangible property.<sup>19</sup> That history addresses questions Justice Stephens raised recently during oral argument in the capital gains tax litigation by showing that (1) since the 1930 amendment to the tax uniformity clause of the state's constitution there has

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Appellants' Opening Br. at 53–72, *Petrogas Pac. LLC* v. Xczar, No. 83065-1-I, \_\_\_ Wn. App. \_\_\_, 520 P.3d 1077, 1083 (Nov. 28, 2022).

been no ad valorem property tax on any intangibles until this case—and (2) there are sound policy reasons for the total exemption of intangibles.<sup>20</sup> Neither the Assessor nor the Court of Appeals found any defect in that detailed historical explanation.<sup>21</sup>

The Court of Appeals should have been guided by the adage that "a page of history is worth a volume of logic"<sup>22</sup> in order to understand the intangibles exemption statute. Instead, the Court closed its eyes to history. Though the Court of Appeals did invoke the historical context for this same exemption in another decision (discussed below), here it decided any historical context was outside

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Id.; Appendix G at 5, 7–8 (J. Stephens).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Br. of Resp't at 12, *Petrogas Pac. LLC v. Xczar*, \_\_\_\_
Wn. App. \_\_\_\_, 520 P.3d 1077, 1083 (Nov. 28, 2022) (No. 83065-1-I); *Petrogas Pac.*, 520 P.3d 1077.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> Appendix G at 5 (J. Stephens); see also New York Trust Co. v. Eisner, 256 U.S. 345, 349, 41 S. Ct. 506, 65 L. Ed. 963 (1921).

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