FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/21/2023 3:38 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 1017944 Court of Appeals No. 83065-1-I

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

PETROGAS PACIFIC LLC and PETROGAS WEST LLC,

Appellants/Petitioners,

v.

REBECCA XCZAR, Whatcom County Assessor,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ERIC J. RICHEY,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By BRANDON WALDRON
Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #44374
311 Grand Avenue, Suite 201
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 778-5710

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

E. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

Petrogas' Petition for Review fails to offer adequate grounds and supporting argument to justify discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will grant review only:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

Petrogas asserts two bases for acceptance of review: 1) that the Court of Appeals decision affirmed the Board of Tax Appeals is in conflict with several Supreme Court decisions, and the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. As discussed further below, the Court of Appeals decision is not in conflict with prior Supreme Court decisions. The unique nature of the subject properties also demonstrates there are no issues of substantial public interest which would justify this Court accepting review.

1. The Court of Appeals' decision regarding the appraisal methods is consistent with this Court's precedent and State statutory authority.

RCW 84.40.030 lays out the approaches to value to be used in the assessment of real property for ad valorem taxation.

The approaches to be used are the sales, cost, and income

approach. RCW 84.40.030(3). The first statutory mandate is that the true and fair value of real property *must* be based upon any sales of the subject property within the prior five years. RCW 84.40.030(3)(a). An appraiser may also consider the cost or income approach. RCW 84.40.030(b). When the subject property is a complex one or there is no record of a sale of the subject property, the cost and income approaches must be the dominant factors in valuation. Id. Petrogas asks this Court to vitiate the mandate in RCW 84.40.030(3)(a) and would have assessors turn a blind eye to sales of the subject properties. As the Court of Appeals correctly noted, the sales approach can be the most reliable method of valuation. *Petrogas Pacific LLC v*. *Xczar*, 520 P.3d at 1084, citing Sahalee Country Club, Inc. v. Bd. of Tax Appeals, 108 Wn.2d 26, 33, 735 P.2d 1320 (1987). Further, no particular appraisal method is mandatory. See Folsom v. City of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 266 n.1, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988), citing Pier 67, Inc. v. King County, 78 Wn.2d 48, 269 P.2d 902 (1970).

Petrogas asserts that the only reason the Board rejected Kevin Reilly's appraisal was because it valued only tangible property. Petrogas Pet. for Review, 21. That is not the case. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the Board concluded that Reilly erred by not failing to appropriately consider the sales of the subject properties or the intangible characteristics of the property that contributed to its overall value. *Petrogas Pacific LLC*, 520 P.3d at 1085. The Court further stated that as the sales of the subject properties were within five years of the valuation, the sales were required to be considered. *Id*.

Petrogas claims that the Court of Appeals decision upholding the Board's rejection of Reilly's appraisal conflicts with six prior decisions of this Court concerning the appropriate valuations methods to be applied in this case. ¹

_

¹ Weyerhauser Co. v. Easter, 126 Wn.2d 370, 894 P.2d 1290 (1995); Folsom v. City of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988) [Folsom II]; Sahalee County Club, Inc. v. Bd. of Tax Appeals, 108 Wn.2d 26, 735 P.2d 1320 (1987); Folsom v. City of Spokane, 106 Wn.2d 760, 725 P.2d 987 (1986) [Folsom

However, those cases are inapposite. Petrogas omits the most important point that distinguishes those cases from the present one: there was no data concerning sales of the subject properties in those cases. Folsom I and Folsom II involved a commercial property that had been owned for at least sixteen years prior to the contested assessment. 106 Wn.2d 760, 761, In Weyerhauser Co. the property owner built the subject paper mill in 1957. 126 Wn.2d 370, 373. Thus, there was no data concerning a sale of that property within five years prior to the contested valuation. In Sahalee Country Club, Inc., the assessor did utilize a sales approach. 108 Wn.2d 34-35. However, this approach was based upon bare land sales in the area and sales of golf courses throughout the western United States. *Id.* Presumably the assessor was relegated to this approach because there was no sales data for the subject

I]; Boise Cascade Corp. v. Pierce County, 84 Wn.2d 667, 529 P.2d 9 (1974); Ozette Ry. Co. v. Grays Harbor County, 16 Wn.2d 459, 133 P.2d 983 (1943).

property. In *Boise Cascade Corp.*, this Court addressed the assessor's failure to consider the subject property's functional obsolescence in his cost approach. 84 Wn.2d 667, 672.

Neither party conducted a sales approach and there was no discussion in the Court's decision regarding sales of the subject properties. Finally, in *Ozette Ry. Co.*, this Court recognized that there were no sales of logging railroads from which to develop a sales approach. 16 Wn.2d 459, 470-71. In speaking specifically to the appraisal methodologies, the Court stated, "Appellants concede that in the absence of proof of 'actual value and actual sales,' proof of cost less depreciation is admissible to throw light on the question of value." *Id.* at 471.

Read in tandem, these cases cannot be interpreted to endorse a "cost approach only" mandate as Petrogas suggests.

Rather, they stand for a common-sense pillar of real property appraisal: that a determination of value should be based upon those methods for which there is accurate and reliable data.

See Sahalee, 108 Wn.2d 26, 33-34 (discussing the

reconciliation process). As discussed further below, the subject properties benefit from a number of intangible characteristics and attributes. The Board found that Reilly failed to consider those characteristics as is required by statute. *Petrogas Pacific LLC*, 520 P.3d at 1085. The Court of Appeals properly upheld the Board's conclusions as to that issue. *Id.* Petrogas has failed to identity any decision on this point in conflict with the decision below.

2. The Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any Supreme Court case interpreting the exemption of intangible personal property.

Throughout the entirety of this litigation, Petrogas has mischaracterized or misunderstood a distinction central to the issues in this case: the difference between tax exempt intangible personal property and the intangible characteristics or attributes of real property that must be considered in its valuation. *Petrogas Pacific LLC*, 520 P.3d at 1082-83; RCW

84.36.070; WAC 458-50-160. Unfortunately, Petrogas repeats this error in its petition for review.

It is true that intangible personal property is exempt from ad valorem taxation. RCW 84.36.070(1), (2). However, there are certain intangible characteristics or attributes of real property that affect the value of real property and must be considered in determining the value of real property. RCW 84.36.070(3); WAC 458-50-160(4). These intangible characteristics or attributes include things like location, scarcity, utility as an integrated unit, and proximity to markets. WAC 458-50-160(4)(a), (c). The Court of Appeals found that the Board did not err in finding that the subject properties benefitted from some of these intangible characteristics or attributes. Petrogas Pacific LLC, 520 P.3d at 1083. The court made specific reference to the Board's findings concerning the subject properties' location and proximity to Asian markets, the uniqueness and scarcity as the only LPG exporting facility on the west coast of North America, and the operation of the

subject properties as an integrated unit. *Id.* The Board and the Assessor were required to consider these characteristics, and in doing so, complied with the unambiguous language of RCW 84.36.070 and WAC 458-50-160. *Id.*

Petrogas has failed to identity any Supreme Court decisions involving these principles that is at odds with the Court of Appeals decision below. In support of its position, Petrogas cites two Supreme court decisions: State ex rel. Wolfe v. Parmenter, 50 Wash 164, 96 P. 104 (1908), and State ex rel. Atwood v. Wooster, 163 Wash. 659, 2 P. 653 (1931). In Parmenter the only issue before the Court was the constitutionality of a statute that defined taxable personal property and exempted other items. *Parmenter*, 50 Wash. 164, 172. Specifically, the exempt items were mortgages, notes, accounts, moneys, certificates of deposit, tax certificates, judgments, and government bonds. *Id.* The Court ultimately found the statute constitutional. *Id.* at 178-79. More importantly, that decision did not address the definition or

exemption of intangible personal property, as that exemption would not be enacted by the legislature for another twenty-three years. Rather, the Court decided, as a matter of constitutional law, that the legislature was free to classify the above items as exempt. *Id*.

In *Wooster*, the Court was again faced with the Legislature's classification of certain intangible personal property as tax exempt given the 1930 amendments to Article 7, section 1 of the State Constitution. 163 Wash. 659, 661-62. The Court held that, pursuant to amended Article 7, section 1, the Legislature had the authority to classify certain property as tax exempt and that such classification was "a matter between the legislature and those to whom it is responsible." *Id.* at 664. The Court did not parse the language of RCW 84.36.070 to determine which items of intangible property are exempt and what other aspects of property are taxable.

The decision below analyzed the distinction in RCW 84.36.070 between tax exempt intangible personal property and

the intangible characteristics or attributes of real property that contribute to its value. *Petrogas Pacific LLC*, 520 P.3d at 1082-83. The Court of Appeals properly applied the canons of statutory interpretation, found that RCW 84.36.070 was unambiguous, and held the Board's findings and conclusions were consistent with the plain meaning of that statute. *Id*. Petrogas has failed to identify any Supreme Court precedent which is in conflict with the decision below.

3. The Court of Appeals appropriately affirmed the Board's finding that Petrogas' aquatic lands lease contributed to the value of the property.

Petrogas argued that this conflicts with *Japan*Line, Ltd. v. McCaffree, 88 Wn.2d 93, 558 P.2d 211 (1977), stating that the *Japan Line* court concluded that the leasehold excise tax was intended to replace the ad valorem tax on leasehold interests in public lands. That statement is a mischaracterization of the court's decision. The Court was not, as Petrogas suggests, addressing the ability of the

Legislature to double tax an item of personal property. Instead, the Court was deciding two constitutional issues: whether the retroactive application of the leasehold tax violated due process, and whether the concurrent cancellation of the ad valorem tax and enactment of the leasehold tax was an unconstitutional gift of public funds. *Id* at 96, 98. While the Court did, in passing, make the statement cited by Petrogas, it was only to support the Court's holding that the legislative action was constitutional. *Id*. at 98-99.

Contrary to Petrogas' position, the Court of Appeals decision does not result in their interests being "double taxed." The Court of Appeals noted the tax exemption for leasehold interests in public land under RCW 84.36.451.

Petrogas Pacific LLC, 520 P.3d at 1083. However, the court also recognized the statutory requirement that assessors must consider "licenses, permits, and franchises granted by a government agency that affect the use of the property." RCW

84.36070(4); *Petrogas Pacific, LLC*, 520 P.3d at 1083. The Assessor did not attribute any dollar value directly to the lease. *Id.* at 1083. Rather, the Assessor recognized that the aquatic lands lease affects the highest and best use of the real property. *Id.* at 1084. Without the ability to have 48 ships cross the State-owned tidelands annually, the subject properties would not be able to achieve their highest and best use as an LPG export facility.

4. The unique nature of the subject properties indicates that there are no issues of great public interest at stake.

The issues of ad valorem taxation are public in nature.

However, the outcome of this case will have little to no impact on other property tax assessments in the future because the property in question is an extremely unique LPG storage facility, connected to a deep-water port, with access to the Pacific Ocean, and with licenses from the State to dock a large number of ocean-going supertankers. Petitioners themselves

are forced to accept the uniqueness of this property. Petrogas

Petition for Review, 11. Due to the unique nature of this

property, the issues presented here are unlikely to reoccur in
the future.

Equally, guidance to the future assessment of ad valorem taxation is not needed because it is unlikely that another assessor will encounter a property with these unique characteristics. Even if that were to occur, future guidance is not warranted because any future public official will be properly instructed by the Court of Appeals decision in this case. In the future, it would be correct to consider any existing uniqueness, scarcity, and access to market; and to further consider licenses, franchises, and permits issued by the government that impact the use of property. *Petrogas Pacific LLC*, 520 P.3d at 1083.

Therefore, there is not an issue of substantial public importance that requires review to prevent sweeping implications.

F. CONCLUSION

Petrogas has failed to identify grounds sufficient for

discretionary review in this matter. Petrogas has failed to

identity any Supreme Court decision that is in conflict with the

Court of Appeals' decision below. Petrogas has also failed to

demonstrate that the petition contains an issue of substantial

public interest that should be addressed by this Court. The

Whatcom County Assessor respectfully requests this Court to

deny the petition for review.

This document contains 3,059 words, excluding parts of the

document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17(b).